OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: 86,210

) 1st DCA No.: 93-3445) Fourth Judicial Circuit) Case No.: 92-2585-CA) Case No.: 93-0409-CA

Appellees.

Appellants,

LIZZIE MAE HARRIS, WANDA M. TOWNSEND

DALE WILSON, JAMES JETT, LARRY LANCASTER, PATRICK McGOVERN and

of the State of Florida,

GEORGE BUSH, as constituting the

Board of Clay County Commissioners; CLAY COUNTY, a Political Subdivision

> APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

> > JACKSONVILLE AREA LEGAL AID, INC. GLORIA A. EINSTEIN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 801119 1488 Park Avenue Orange Park, Florida 32073 (904) 264-2713/FAX 269-4422 Attorney for Appellants

IN THE SUPREME COURT

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

)

FILED

SID J. WHITE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the grant of summary judgment to Clay County on a challenge to its special assessment for solid waste disposal. Throughout, Plaintiffs-Appellants will be referred to as the homeowners, and Defendants-Appellees will be referred to as Clay County, or the County.

A. FACTUAL SUMMARY

In 1992 Clay County enacted an ordinance imposing a partial year special assessment for the maintenance of the county solid waste facilities (R-119-146, App. tab 3). The assessment was applied only to residential properties in the unincorporated area of the county.

Residents of the unincorporated area formerly paid a tipping fee based on the weight of the waste they brought to the landfill. As a result of the assessment they are now entitled to deposit their solid waste without paying any tipping fee. The assessment does not fund collection service. Residents are required to transport their own waste to the landfill or to pay separately for the service.¹ Commercial and unimproved property are not subject to the assessment, so the tipping fee method of payment is still applicable to those properties.

¹ The County has entered into franchise agreements with commercial haulers, but residents who use these haulers must pay the entire cost of the collection service as well as the disposal assessment.

The Appellants are elderly, low-income homeowners subject to the assessment. Because the assessed value of their properties is less than \$25,000, they pay no <u>ad valorem</u> taxes, but they are required to pay the special assessment. (R-5 para. 10, App. tab 1; R-50, para. 11, App. tab 2)

The instant case is a challenge to the partial year special assessment. Since this action was filed, the County has enacted a full year assessment, to be collected as provided by §197.3632, Fla. Stat. The homeowners have challenged that ordinance as well, but those cases are pending, by agreement of counsel, until there is a resolution of this case.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The homeowners brought two separate actions challenging the assessment, Ms. Harris on December 28, 1992, and the Townsends on March 2, 1993. The cases were later consolidated without objection. (R-467-468, App. tab 9). Both raised the issue of the validity of the assessment, but the Townsends' case raised the additional issue of arbitrariness in determining which structures are "dwelling units" subject to separate assessments. (R-48-49 para. 8, App. tab 2).

The County moved for summary judgment on June 15, 1993. (R-92-184, App. tab 3). Certain County documents, obtained in discovery, were presented to the Court at the summary judgment hearings. (R-439-464, App. tab 7). The homeowners contend that these documents show that the assessment was not calculated by determining the cost of the service, as the County claimed, but

that it was instead an arbitrary predetermined rate, which was justified by adjusting the budget figures for that purpose. The trial Court refused to admit these documents, though their authenticity was undisputed,² and granted summary judgment in favor of the county. (App. tab 9). The homeowners appealed from that final order.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed, with a dissent.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents nothing less than the question of whether the Florida Constitution will mean what it says, with regard to property taxation and homestead protection. Local government officials, sworn to uphold the Constitution, have, because of fiscal and political pressures, attempted to pervert the plain meaning of constitutional limitations on property taxes. The use of special assessments to fund ongoing municipal services makes the constitutional provisions meaningless in practice, nullifying the will of the citizens who inserted those provisions in the constitution.

Existing case law does not permit the special assessment exception to swallow the rules of homestead exemption and millage

² Transcript, p. 28. The transcript of the Summary Judgment Hearing is found in Appellants' Appendix, tab 8. The trial court's alternative holding (R-474, App. tab 9) was that the documents did not raise an issue of material fact. Likewise, the Court of Appeal approved the exclusion of the documents, but obviously considered them, stating "[t]hese documents, standing by themselves, are insufficient to raise a material dispute concerning the legislative determination of the county." Certified Record, page 18. App. tab 11.

rate limitations. However, this Court must clarify the law, and place in context cases that have recently been re-interpreted to widen the scope of special assessments. Local governments are rapidly expanding the scope and rationale of special assessments, making urgent the need for a clear definition of a valid special assessment.

In the instant case, the trial court and the District Court of Appeal approved an assessment for landfill maintenance, but not for waste collection, where the assessment proceeds were commingled into the County's solid waste budget, and where non-payment can result in the forced sale of a homestead. However, commercial and unimproved property receives the same disposal services but is not subject to the assessment, and therefore not subject to liens and tax sales to enforce payment.

The County did not demonstrate benefit to any particular property, and the County's listing of benefits, both in its legislative findings and its answers to interrogatories, reveals that most of the benefits are general. As to the only specific benefit--the disposal of waste from a particular property--the amount of the assessment bears no relation to the benefit, that is, to the actual use of the landfill. Affirmance by this Court would mean that an exception to constitutional protection could be supported by nothing more than self-serving declarations of County officials.

The benefit asserted rested upon a flow-control ordinance, such as that which the United States Supreme Court has recently

held to violate the dormant Commerce Clause.

The assessment imposes a flat charge for unlimited residential use of the landfill. This is contrary to state and federal policy of reducing landfill use by conservation and recovery of energy and materials from solid waste.

A clear ruling about valid assessments would benefit the citizens of Florida, local governments and the administration of justice. That ruling should be that only traditional assessments, which increase the market value of property by providing an improvement serving that property, may legally burden the homestead.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON PROPERTY TAXATION DO NOT CONTEMPLATE ASSESSMENTS FOR ONGOING MUNICIPAL SERVICES

A. THE CONSTITUTION PROVIDES A COHERENT SCHEME FOR LIMITING LOCAL TAXATION

Article VII of the Florida Constitution has one overriding message: the people of Florida want their taxes to be strictly and specifically limited, and they have exercised the political process to achieve that result. The citizens have, moreover, placed these limitations in the state's Constitution, so that they will not be subject to transient political changes, and so that all branches of government will be bound by them.

The wisdom of these provisions may be debatable, but there is no question that the will of the people has been clearly expressed.

While these provisions give rise to technical issues about how certain terms shall be defined, and how certain quantities shall be

calculated, there is no ambiguity in the intention strictly to limit taxation.

This case, if affirmed, will render that entire scheme meaningless with respect to local government. If a county or city may turn any ongoing service into an open-ended assessment, if that assessment may be supported only by the vague and self-serving statements of its own officials, not subject to independent scrutiny by any court, and if the amount of the assessment, and the method of calculating that amount, can likewise be justified by self-serving statements alone, regardless of evidence to the contrary, then local governments can assess any property any amount for any purpose. Property owners will be subject to unlimited taxation, at the will of local government officials, and court review will be so perfunctory that it will soon be abandoned altogether. The clear intentions of the citizens of this state will have been frustrated.

It has been argued that it is precisely because of the stringent tax limitations that courts must affirm assessments for ongoing services. However, that is not demonstrated in the cases that have recently come before this Court. While local governments have allowed the courts to assume that they had no other funding options available, that has not always been factual.

Clay County has a millage somewhat close to the 10 mills permitted by Article VII, Section 9(b), but it could raise the same amount as the assessment proceeds through <u>ad valorem</u> taxes and

remain under 10 mills.³ It also has not used any of the 10 mills provided by section 9(b) for municipal services, though the maintenance of a landfill is clearly a municipal service.

The County also has the option of continuing the tipping fee, for residential users, and not increasing millage at all. This would mean that payment would be in proportion to use of the service, and that there would be no liens placed on homesteads.⁴

⁴ While one would think sound public policy would discourage liens on homesteads, the County's consultant, Public Financial Management, Inc., has a different view, as expressed at R-460-462, App. tab 7, a letter recommending the adoption of the assessment. Among other advantages discussed is the following:

As discussed above, the collection of assessments, unlike tipping fees, is not dependent upon the number of tons which are actually delivered to the System. Rather, the collection of assessments is solely dependent upon the County's ability to enforce the assessment. The County's ability to place a lien against the property for failure to pay the assessment is considered by credit analysts to be the strongest method of enforcing the collection of solid waste user fees. Generally, the greater the percentage of users which are subject to the assessment, the stronger the credit. R-461.

In fact, the County stopped short of imposing the assessment on commercial and unimproved property, focussing the powerful enforcement tool only on residential property.

³ Clay County's millage was 8.4585 for 1995. Recapitulation of Taxes as Extended on the 1995 Tax Rolls, form DR 403 CC provided by Clay County to the Bureau of Analysis and Evaluations. Its millage in 1991 was 8.239. Florida Advisory Council on Intergovernmental Relation [ACIR] <u>Ad Valorem Taxes: Public Reaction and Policy Response</u>, January 17, 1992, Table 2, page 10. However, the County answered Interrogatory 3 stating that \$1,676,023.30 had, so far, been collected as a result of the assessment, and answered Interrogatory 17 that one mill would generate \$2,237,726.97 in ad valorem taxes. Thus, one mill, which would not put the County over the 10 mill limit, would generate more than was collected through the assessment. (R-396, 400, App. tab 5.)

Likewise, in its Reply Brief before this Court in <u>Sarasota</u> <u>County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc.</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S600 (Fla. December 21, 1995), Sarasota County has admitted that revenue pressures did not lead to its stormwater assessment.⁵ Finally in <u>State v. City of Port Orange</u>, 650 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994) the State pointed out in its brief that there has been neither allegation nor proof that the City had reached its millage limitations, and that in fact an <u>ad valorem</u> tax reduction for certain businesses was planned as a result of the revenue from the "traffic utility fee." Case No. 83,103, Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 4 n.1., p. 9.

Thus, assessments can permit local governments to obtain more revenue than allowed by the millage limitations. They can also shift the tax burden from an ad valorem tax to a flat tax on homeowners, as was the case in Sarasota County, from use-sensitive user fees to a flat tax on homeowners as in Clay County, or from ad valorem taxation to an arbitrary classification of residences based on street type, such as was used in Port Orange.

It is certainly conceded that local governments have budget constraints, as well as political constraints, and have needs for revenue. However, allowing them unlimited access to the pockets of Florida's homeowners is not a solution permitted by the State Constitution.

⁵ Indeed, that assertion was one of the six major points of the Reply Brief, and was stated in the outline of the argument. Reply Brief, case number 84,414, pp. i and 10. Sarasota County stated "[T]here are no such revenue pressures evident from the record in this case or which exist in SARASOTA." <u>id</u>. at 10.

B. THE HOMESTEAD TAX EXEMPTION IS PART OF A COHERENT SCHEME FOR PROTECTING THE HOMESTEAD UNDER FLORIDA LAW

The constitutional recognition of the homestead appears in Article VII, Section 6,⁶ which provides the homestead tax exemption, and also in Article X, Section 4^7 , which prohibits

⁶ Art. VII § 6. Homestead exemptions

(a) Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon, except assessments for special benefits, up to the assessed valuation of five thousand dollars, upon establishment of right thereto in the manner prescribed by law. The real estate may be held by legal or equitable title, by the entireties, jointly, in common, as a condominium, or indirectly by stock ownership or membership representing the owner's or member's proprietary interest in a corporation owning a fee or a leasehold initially in excess of ninety-eight years.

This provision was originally inserted in the Constitution in 1934. Subsequent revision of the wording of the exception for assessments is discussed <u>infra</u> at page 17.

⁷ Art. X § 4. Homestead; exemptions

(a) There shall be exempt from forced sale under process of any court, and no judgment, decree or execution shall be a lien thereon, except for the payment of taxes and assessments thereon, obligations contracted for the purchase, improvement or repair thereof, or obligations contracted for house, field or other labor performed on the realty, the following property owned by a natural person:

(1) a homestead, if located outside a municipality, to the extent of one hundred sixty acres of contiguous land and improvement thereon, which shall not be reduced without the owner's consent by reason of subsequent inclusion in a municipality; or if located within a municipality, to the extent of one-half acre of contiguous land, upon which the exemption shall be limited to the residence of the owner or his family;

(2) personal property to the value of one thousand dollars.

(b) These exemptions shall inure to the surviving spouse or heirs of the owner.

(c) The homestead shall not be devised if the owner is survived by spouse or minor child, except the homestead may be devised to the owner's spouse if there be no minor child. The owner of homestead real estate, jointed by the spouse if married, may alienate the homestead by mortgage, sale or gift and, if married, may by deed transfer the title to an estate by the



forced sale of a homestead, alienation of a homestead by one spouse, and even devise of the homestead when there is a surviving spouse or child. These, as well as the tax limitations, are distinctive features of Florida law. "No policy of this State is more strongly expressed in the constitution, laws and decisions of this State than the policy of our exemption laws." <u>Sherbill v.</u> <u>Miller Manufacturing Company</u>, 89 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 1956).

The exemption from forced sale had been part of the 1868 constitution, and of each subsequent revision, however the tax exemption was first placed in the Constitution in 1934. Its purpose was to preserve homes from forced sale because of delinquent taxes, during the Depression years when many families lacked the income to pay taxes. "The natural aversion to foreclosures and the subsequent economic losses inherent in such measures inspired the legislature to protect Florida homeowners." David W. Wilcox, <u>The False Promise of Homeowner Tax Relief</u>, 6 Fla. St. U. L. Rev. 1055 (1978) at 1055. Thus, the tax exemption can be seen as a completion of the protection provided in Article X. Homeowners were already protected from forced sale for other debts, but Article X had an exception for taxes and assessments. A tax

entirety with the spouse. If the owner or spouse is incompetent, the method of alienation or encumbrance shall be as provided by law.

This provision existed in the 1868 Constitution, though the scope of it has undergone revision. These revisions are traced in Donna Littman Seiden, <u>There's no place like home(stead) in Florida--</u> should it stay that way? 18 Nova L. Rev. 801, 823 <u>et seq.</u> (1994).

exemption provided the needed protection for homeowners without the funds to pay taxes.

Each of these constitutional homestead sections have been interpreted in a number of statutes (Chapter 196 provides procedures for the tax exemption, sections 222.01-222.05 and 222.08-222.10 provide procedures for the exemption for forced sale, and sections 732.401-732.4015 interpret the restrictions on alienation and devise.) Through the years these provisions have been interpreted by many court decisions. The recurring theme of these cases is that the protection of the homestead, and the continued ability of the family to reside in the homestead, is of the highest social and political value.⁸

Thus, both the tax exemption and the Article X protection from loss form a coherent scheme for the protection of a homestead.

Clay County's assessment implicates both constitutional homestead provisions because assessments form an exception to both. The assessment at issue, if affirmed, will require homestead owners to pay even if they are exempt from <u>ad valorem</u> taxes, as are the homeowners here, and will result in sale of tax certificates on the homesteads of those who are unable to pay, (Motion to

⁸ This Court, in <u>Overstreet v. Tubin</u>, 53 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 913) surveyed the homestead exemptions of the other states, and found only one other as extensive as Florida's. Seiden, <u>supra</u>, provides an updated and more detailed comparison with other states. Only fifteen states place the homestead exemption in the constitution, while only seven other states exempt from forced sale a homestead of unlimited value, but a limited value of personalty. "The framers of the original constitution considered a debtor's right to have a place to live and work so important as to protect it by constitution with no dollar limitation, whereas the right to exempt personalty was limited to \$1,000." <u>id</u>. at 841-842.

Supplement the Record, Certified Record pp. 1-4, App. tab 10) leading ultimately to forced sale of those homes. Indeed, the ordinance provides for foreclosure in the event of non-payment.⁹ (R-139-140; App. 3), although the County has apparently chosen thus far to proceed by sale of tax certificates instead.

ز_

It may be thought that the amounts in question are negligible, and for many people they are. The assessment at issue is only \$63.00 for 9 months, and the current assessment is only \$84.00 per year. However, it is precisely cash-poor owners of modest homes that the homestead tax exemption is meant to protect.¹⁰

The County in its answers to Interrogatories estimates that it will help approximately 200 people with the hardship fund (Interrogatory 12, R-399, App. tab 5), yet it states that 3,192 parcels are totally exempt because of the homestead exemption, (Interrogatory 15, R-400, App. tab 5).

¹⁰ That principle is so strong that it results in occasional abuses, such as highly publicized debtors being permitted to retain lavish (but presumably sparsely furnished) homes, and such as a convicted criminal defeating a RICO forfeiture on homestead. <u>Butterworth v. Caggiano</u>, 605 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 1992). However, its overall effect is the salutary one intended by the framers. Seiden, <u>supra</u> at 837, provides information that in bankruptcy courts in Florida the average homestead exempted had a value of \$40,000 in the Northern and Middle Districts, and \$72,000 in the Southern District, while the highest exemption in a single case was \$115,000 in the Northern and Middle Districts, and \$300,000 in the Southern District.

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