#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 86,210

#### LIZZIE MAE HARRIS, WANDA M. TOWNSEND and ELLIS TOWNSEND,

Appellants,

vs.

DALE WILSON, JAMES JETT, LARRY LANCASTER, PATRICK McGOVERN and GEORGE BUSH, as constituting the Board of Clay County Commissioners; CLAY COUNTY, a Political Subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellees.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal Case No. 93-3445

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly granted the County's Motion for Summary Judgment and the First District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed that ruling.

The County was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the County's solid waste disposal special assessment conferred a special benefit on the property assessed and the assessment was fairly and reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties. The courts in Florida have upheld special assessments for a variety of services and improvements, including solid waste management services. Furthermore, the courts in Florida have held that legislative determinations on benefit and apportionment are presumed to be valid unless they are proven to be arbitrary. The Board of County Commissioners here made specific legislative findings that the assessed properties received special benefits and that the assessment was reasonably apportioned among those properties. The Appellants failed to prove otherwise.

In addition, the traditional requirements for valid special assessments are not altered when special assessments are imposed against homestead property. Neither the Florida Constitution nor the Florida Statutes even imply that additional scrutiny or requirements exist for homestead properties but not for other types of properties when special assessments are involved. This Court, just three months ago, expressly clarified this idea: special assessments for services may be imposed against tax protected property when special benefits and fair apportionment are present.

If either one of the requirements for special assessments is not present, then the special assessment is invalid, regardless of the nature of the property against which the assessment is imposed.

Finally, the Appellants failed to create any genuine issue of disputed material fact. Throughout this case, the Appellants have attempted to show, through documents properly excluded from consideration on summary judgment, the alleged invalidity of the apportionment method. Both the circuit court and the First District Court of Appeal concluded that the documents were untimely and improper, but that regardless, the documents failed to raise an issue of dispute on the apportionment method.

Thus, the County's special assessment for solid waste disposal services and facilities is valid as a matter of law.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE COUNTY'S SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL SPECIAL ASSESSMENT IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT'S RECENT OPINION UPHOLDING STORMWATER SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

The Appellants' Initial Brief ignores the substance of this Court's recent opinion upholding stormwater special assessments and its direct resolution of the Appellants' assertions in this case. <u>See Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc.</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S600 (Fla. Dec. 21, 1995). Significantly, at least four of the Appellants' arguments are resolved by this Court's decision in <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u>.

First, this Court conclusively determined that a special assessment program can be imposed throughout a community and not be deemed a tax. This Court stated, "Although a special assessment is typically imposed for a specific purpose designed to benefit a specific area or class of property owners, this does not mean that the costs of services can never be levied throughout a community as a whole." <u>Sarasota County</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S600. This Court further articulated that "the validity of a special assessment turns on the benefits received by the recipients of the services and the appropriate apportionment of the cost thereof . . . regardless of whether the recipients of the benefits are spread throughout an entire community or are merely located in a limited, specified area[.]" <u>Id.</u> Similar to Sarasota County's stormwater special assessment, the County in this case imposed its solid waste disposal special assessment on improved, residential properties

throughout the unincorporated areas. (R. 130; App. C, Ex. 2-C). This fact, just as in <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u>, does not alter the requirements for a valid special assessment. Regardless of the geographic area in which a special assessment is imposed, a special assessment must provide a special benefit to the assessed properties and the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties. <u>Sarasota</u> <u>County v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S600.

Second, the instant case is consistent with this Court's opinion in Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ as both cases involve special assessments for services. The Appellants have argued throughout this case that for a special assessment to be valid, it must either provide revenue only for a capital improvement or only for a new service when the assessment is imposed against homestead property.<sup>4</sup> (Initial Brief at 13-19). Both the instant case and the Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ case involve property protected from taxation and both involve special assessments for services. Thus, the Appellants' argument that special assessments for services, when imposed against tax exempt homestead properties, must meet new or additional criteria for them to be valid, ignores the conclusion in Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ. This Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For example, the Appellants conclude that "only traditional assessments, which increase the market value of property by providing an improvement serving that property, may legally burden the homestead." (Initial Brief at 5).

specifically upheld the imposition of special assessments for services on tax protected property. <u>See</u> 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S602.

Third, this Court's opinion in <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota</u> <u>Church of Christ</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S600 (Fla. Dec. 21, 1995), resolves the Appellants' assertion that if a service was previously funded by some other source, like ad valorem taxes or, as here, tipping fees, a legislative decision to change the funding mechanism to a special assessment is either suspect or invalid. (Initial Brief at 27-29). In fact, this Court in <u>Sarasota County</u> <u>v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u> refused to affirm the Second District Court of Appeal's conclusion that stormwater services should be funded only with ad valorem tax revenue. <u>See</u> 641 So.2d 900, 903 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). This Court stated, "Although we do not find that the previous funding of stormwater services through taxation was inappropriate, we do find that the stormwater funding through the special assessment . . . is a more appropriate funding mechanism. . . ." 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S602.

Finally, this Court in <u>Saragota County v. Saragota Church of</u> <u>Christ</u> clarified that the questions of special benefit and fair apportionment are, in the first instance, questions for the legislative body imposing the special assessment. This Court held that "the legislative determination as to the existence of special benefits and as to the apportionment of the costs of those benefits should be upheld unless the determination is arbitrary." <u>Saragota</u> <u>County v. Saragota Church of Christ</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S600, S601 (Fla. Dec. 21, 1995) (citing <u>Meyer v. City of Oakland Park</u>, 219

So.2d 417, 420 (Fla. 1969) ("[I]f reasonable men may differ as to whether land assessed was benefited . . ., the determination of the City officials as to such benefits must be sustained."). Acting as a legislative body, the Clay County Board of County Commissioners specifically found that its solid waste disposal special assessment conferred the required special benefits on the assessed properties and that its apportionment methodology was fair and reasonable.

Specifically, the County concluded the following with respect to special benefits:

The parcels of Residential Property described in the Solid Waste Disposal Assessment Roll, ., are hereby found to be specially benefited by the provision of the Partial Year Solid Waste Disposal Assessment set forth in the Solid Waste Disposal Assessment Roll, The benefits provided to affected lands include by way of example and not limitation, the availability of facilities to properly and safely dispose of solid waste generated on improved residential lands, closure and the long term monitoring of the facilities, a potential increase in value to improved residential lands, better service to owners and tenants, and the enhancement of environmentally responsible use and enjoyment of residential land.

(R. 92-184; App. C, Ex. 2-E). In addition, the County, as a legislative body found that "[t]he imposition of a Partial Year Solid Waste Disposal Assessment is an equitable and efficient method of allocating and apportioning the Solid Waste Disposal Cost among parcels of Residential Property within the unincorporated area of the County." (R. 92-184; App. C, Ex. 2-A).

Not only are both of these legislative findings presumed to be valid under this Court's conclusion in <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota</u>

<u>Church of Christ</u>, but the case law in Florida clearly supports these findings as well. Consequently, the County's solid waste disposal special assessment is valid as a matter of law.

#### II. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE COUNTY'S SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL SPECIAL ASSESSMENT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR VALID SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

The County's special assessment for solid waste disposal fulfills the constitutional criteria for valid special assessments. Florida law requires that first, the property assessed must derive a special benefit from the service provided. <u>City of Naples v.</u> <u>Moon, 269 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1972); Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. City of Gainesville, 91 So. 118, 118 (Fla. 1922) (special assessments are "charges assessed against the property of some particular locality because that property derives some special benefit from the expenditure of the money"). In addition, the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among the properties which receive the special benefit. <u>City of Boca Raton v. State</u>, 595 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1992); <u>South Trail Fire Control District, Sarasota</u> <u>County v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1973); <u>Parrish v. Hillsborough</u> <u>County</u>, 123 So. 830 (Fla. 1929).</u>

The provision of solid waste disposal services and facilities provides a sufficient special benefit to the assessed properties because a logical relationship exists between the property assessed and the services provided. <u>See Charlotte County v. Fiske</u>, 350 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); <u>Gleason v. Dade County</u>, 174 So.2d 466 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965); <u>Fire District No. 1 of Polk County v. Jenkins</u>,

221 So.2d 740 (Fla. 1969); <u>South Trail Fire Control Dist., Sarasota</u> <u>County v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1973). In addition, the County's apportionment methodology in this case is fair and reasonable. The court in <u>Charlotte Co. v. Fiske</u>, 350 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), and <u>Fire District No. 1 of Polk County v.</u> <u>Jenkins</u>, 221 So.2d 740 (Fla. 1969), upheld the exact same method for apportionment as the County used in this case. <u>See Harris v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, 656 So.2d 512, 516 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), <u>rev. granted</u>, 666 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1995).

#### A. Nothing In Florida Law Alters The Traditional Requirements For Special Assessments Imposed Against Homestead Property.

The Appellants' overriding argument on appeal exhibits a complete misunderstanding of the legal analysis for the validity of special assessments. The Appellants argue that special assessments imposed against homestead property for essential services should be unconstitutional. (Initial Brief at 5) ("Th[e] ruling should be that only traditional assessments, which increase the market value of property by providing an improvement serving that property, may legally burden the homestead."). The law in Florida is clear: a county may impose a special assessment for services against homestead property. If the special assessment provides a special benefit to the assessed property and is reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties, then the special assessment is valid. If the special assessment fails either of these tests, the assessment program is a tax for which general law authorization is

required. These principles, and only these principles apply, regardless of the nature of the property involved or the type of service or improvement provided.

A review of the constitutional and statutory law reveals no expression or implication that a county cannot impose a special assessment for services against homestead property. If a special assessment provides special benefits to the assessed properties and is fairly apportioned among those properties, the special assessment is valid.

In fact, the Florida Constitution itself resolved the conflict between special assessments and homestead property over 60 years ago. The 1885 Florida Constitution was amended in 1934 to state:

> Every person who has the legal title or beneficial title in equity to real property . . . and in good faith makes the same his or her permanent home, . . . shall be entitled to an exemption from all taxation, <u>except for</u> <u>assessments for special benefits</u>, . . .

Art. X, § 7, Fla. Const. (1885) (emphasis added). In addition, under the current Florida Constitution, the recognition that special assessments may be imposed against homestead property continues. Article VII, section 6(a), Florida Constitution (1968), states:

> Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon, <u>except</u> <u>assessments for special benefits[.]</u>

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). While this constitutional language clearly limits assessments against homestead property to those providing

"special benefits," the language does not further limit the assessments to particular types of programs which provide special benefits. The Florida Constitution does not limit valid special assessments imposed against homestead property to those which fund only capital improvements. Thus, special assessments for services may exist, under the Florida Constitution, so long as they provide "special benefits." <u>See Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of</u> <u>Christ</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S600 (Fla. Dec. 21, 1995) (special assessments for services may be imposed against tax-exempt properties).

Furthermore, the Florida Legislature statutorily implemented the homestead exemption in Chapter 196, Florida Statutes. The particular provision relating to the homestead exemption is section 196.031(1), Florida Statutes, which mirrors the limitations contained within the Florida Constitution. That section provides:

> Every person who, on January 1, has the legal title or beneficial title in equity to real property in this state . . . and who resides thereon and in good faith makes the same his permanent residence, or the permanent residence of another or others legally or naturally dependent upon such person, is entitled to an exemption from all taxation, <u>except for assessments for special benefits[.]</u>

§ 196.031(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). The Florida Legislature granted the authority to municipalities and counties to place special assessments (which are identified in the statute as "non-ad valorem assessments") on the annual property tax bill for collection. § 197.3631, Fla. Stat. Consistently, section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, defines a "non-ad valorem assessment" as "only those assessments which are not based on millage and which can become a lien against a homestead as permitted in s. 4, Art. X of the State Constitution." As these constitutional and statutory provisions illustrate and as the cases evidence, special assessments for services may be imposed against homestead property.

Consequently, the issue in this case does not concern the propriety of special assessments as a local government funding mechanism and this issue in this case does not concern the existence of homestead protection from the imposition of special assessments. Both of these issues are settled in Florida law and the only issue for this Court is whether the First District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed that the special assessments in this case were valid as a matter of law.

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